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® (1630)
[English]

The Chair (Mr. Francis Scarpaleggia (Lac-Saint-Louis,
Lib.)): I call the meeting to order.

Good afternoon, colleagues.

For the first hour, we're here in public for a briefing on the net
zero accelerator fund.

We have officials here from the environment department and the
Department of Industry. Of course, we also have our commissioner
of the environment and sustainable development.

I'm told there are only two opening statements, one from Francis
Bilodeau and the other from Commissioner DeMarco.

Without further ado, we'll start with Mr. Bilodeau, if that's okay.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau (Associate Deputy Minister, Innova-
tion, Science and Economic Development Canada, Department
of Industry): Thank you.

Before I begin my remarks, I'd like to acknowledge that we're
gathered on the traditional unceded territory of the Algonquin An-
ishinabe people. I'd like to take a moment to thank the Anishinabe
people and pay respect to their elders.

[Translation]

I'd really like to thank the members of the committee for giving
us the opportunity to present the strategic innovation fund's net zero
accelerator in more detail, and to answer your questions about the
accelerator and its objectives.

[English]

I'd like to note that my colleagues and I at Innovation, Science
and Economic Development are thankful that the audit conducted
by the commissioner of the environment has led to such interest in
the program. It is my hope that by answering your questions today,
I can provide more clarity about the NZA's mandate and operations.

To aid in this—further to your committee's request of June 4—
ISED has provided copies of all term sheets and contribution agree-
ments signed through the NZA and a copy of the NZA tracker tool.
Due to the sensitive nature of some of the information that has been
shared with you, I'll be happy to discuss these documents in more
detail during the in camera portion of the meeting.

Climate change is a complex challenge, and the NZA addresses
it with a multi-faceted solution across three pillars.

The first is decarbonizing large-emitting sectors. The second is
accelerating industrial transformation. The third is advancing clean
technology development and Canada's battery ecosystem. The NZA
tracker tool provides a detailed snapshot of progress towards these
investment pillars. Projects signed to date, across all pillars, are ex-
pected to generate emissions reductions of roughly 11.2 mega-
tonnes.

Through the first pillar, the NZA is encouraging significant in-
vestments by large emitters to reduce their near-term greenhouse
gas emissions. These efforts towards GHG reductions from this
sector also enhance our competitive edge in a globally decarboniz-
ing economy. To date, three agreements, including with Algoma
and ArcelorMittal Dofasco, have been signed to decarbonize the
steel-making industry and are expected to generate reductions of
about 7.2 megatonnes.

Beyond these signed projects, other large-emitter projects are in
our pipeline and continue to advance through due diligence. We ex-
pect these projects could add up to 10 megatonnes in additional re-
ductions.

® (1635)

[Translation]

These major transformation projects require government support.
This support helps companies lower their investment risk and sig-
nificantly reduce their greenhouse gas emissions in the short term,
while remaining financially viable in a competitive market.

However, a company's decision-making rests on a number of fac-
tors. Barriers to a final investment decision include high initial
costs, low project maturity, risks associated with the adoption of
new technologies, and changing material and labour costs.

Pillar 1 projects are the main target of the commissioner's audit.
However, the accelerator also supports projects that promote the
development of clean technologies, as well as the transformation of
businesses and industrial sectors to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050. Pillar 2 and 3 projects present an estimated reduction of four
megatonnes, resulting from both on-site reductions and the deploy-
ment of clean technologies.
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[English]

Projects funded under NZA pillar 2 and pillar 3 include Svante, a
company building equipment needed for carbon capture and stor-
age. With a manufacturing facility in Burnaby, British Columbia,
Svante will support the carbon capture and storage needs of hard-
to-abate sectors, including cement, steel, and oil and gas in Canada
and around the world. The deployments of Svante's innovative
technology are expected to contribute to significant GHG reduc-
tions in Canada and globally. The market for carbon capture is
growing, with regulations in place in Canada, the U.S.A. and Eu-
rope, highlighting the growing demand for these technologies.

In terms of advancing clean technology development and
Canada's battery ecosystem, the NZA has invested in projects such
as Volkswagen's PowerCo battery cell manufacturing project and
GM's electric vehicle manufacturing efforts. These projects are piv-
otal in developing a robust Canadian EV ecosystem.

[Translation]

Just as electric vehicle projects are helping to build the supply
chain and secure the future of Canada's automotive sector, the net
zero accelerator is helping to transform Canada's economy by ad-
vancing emerging clean technologies such as small modular reac-
tors, nuclear fusion, carbon capture and sequestration, next-genera-
tion aircraft and many more, across Canada.

For all accelerator-funded projects, Innovation, Science and Eco-
nomic Development Canada ensures that the contractual obliga-
tions and performance requirements defined in the initiative are
met. Where the accelerator is able to assess significant greenhouse
gas reductions as a result of a project, contribution agreements in-
clude obligations to reduce or meet emissions intensity standards.
These agreements also include provisions that impose conse-
quences if minimum thresholds are not met. Greenhouse gas reduc-
tions are monitored and tracked through progress reports.

[English]

Beyond the environmental benefits, NZA investments set com-
mitments to foster substantial economic activities. Since the launch
of the NZA, companies have committed to creating and maintain-
ing over 36,000 jobs and to create over 14,000 co-op positions.

They've also made research and development commitments to-
talling $4.5 billion. Those are not insignificant numbers. Indeed,
they highlight the critical impact that projects funded through the
NZA can have on Canada's economy in addition to supporting
global climate goals.

I hope that the documents that have been submitted to the com-
mittee will provide a clearer picture of the broader investment prin-
ciple that underpins the NZA.

[Translation]

Thank you for giving me the floor.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bilodeau.

Commissioner DeMarco, you now have the floor.

[English]

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco (Commissioner of the Environment
and Sustainable Development, Office of the Auditor General):
Mr. Chair, I am pleased to be here today to discuss our report on the
strategic innovation fund's net-zero accelerator initiative that was
tabled in Parliament in April 2024.

1 too would like to acknowledge that this hearing is taking place
on the traditional unceded territory of the Algonquin Anishinabe
people.

Joining me today is Nicolas Blouin, the director who led the au-
dit team.

The net-zero accelerator initiative aims to lower greenhouse gas
emissions by incentivizing Canadian industries to decarbonize their
operations. Our audit focused specifically on manufacturing, and
we looked at whether Innovation, Science and Economic Develop-
ment Canada managed the initiative to decarbonize the manufactur-
ing industries in accordance with Canada's climate goals and with
due regard to value for money.

[Translation]

We found that Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Canada had failed to attract the country's largest industrial emitters.

At the time of the audit, only 15 of the 55 companies with the
highest emissions had applied for funding under the initiative, and
2 companies had signed an agreement. The application process is
long and complex, requiring companies to spend an average of
407 hours on it. This probably didn't help the department attract
more applicants.

Only 2 large and 15 smaller emitters had signed a contribution
agreement, for a total value of $3.2 billion. However, only five of
these companies had signed an agreement to reduce their green-
house gas emissions. These commitments amounted to just
6.2 megatonnes of greenhouse gases, representing less than 1% of
the country's total emissions.

® (1640)
[English]

We also found that there was no industrial decarbonization policy
that involved all relevant government organizations. Such a policy
would provide Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Canada with a clearer picture of which industries are most in need
of funds to reduce emissions.

Our audit uncovered significant gaps, and the department provid-
ed vague responses to our recommendations. I am therefore con-
cerned about what the department plans to do to address these gaps.
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[Translation]

Mr. Chair, this concludes my opening remarks. We look forward
to answering any questions you may have.

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

Before we start the questions, I'd like to indicate the following:
for the next two hours, I'm going to pretend it's the same meeting.
We won't start the second hour with six-minute rounds, but we will

continue with five-minute rounds. In other words, the first round
will be six minutes, and all the others will be five minutes.

Ms. Collins, do you have a question?
[English]
Ms. Laurel Collins (Victoria, NDP): Mr. Chair, it was my un-

derstanding we'd have two meetings, one in camera and one public,
and that those would be two separate meetings.

The Chair: Since the witnesses don't change.... We're going in
camera, but it's not like we have a new set of witnesses.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Mr. Chair, the difficulty is that this plan
severely cuts off the time the Bloc and the NDP have to question
witnesses. It changes that pretty dramatically. It means that our fol-
low-up questioning is shorter than normal, and my understanding is
that we were going to have two separate meetings.

The Chair: I understand, and I can see that one would always
want to get more time. I get that.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Just to clarify, it's not more time; it's just the
amount of time that would be normally allotted if we were having
two separate meetings, one in camera and one public.

The Chair: Just a moment. I'll defer to the committee.

Do I have UC to start over again with a six-minute round in the
second hour?

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Yes, that's fine.

The Chair: Okay.

Mr. Mazier, go ahead.

Mr. Dan Mazier (Dauphin—Swan River—Neepawa, CPC):
Thank you, Chair. Thank you to the officials for coming out this af-
ternoon.

This question is for ISED.
How much money was given to PowerCo through the net zero
accelerator fund? What was the dollar amount, please?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The contribution is $700 million. Zero
has been disbursed to date.

Mr. Dan Mazier: The amount is $700 million. Is that correct?
Mr. Francis Bilodeau: That's correct.

Mr. Dan Mazier: They got $700 million. PowerCo is owned by
Volkswagen Group, a German company that made over $450 bil-
lion in revenue last year.

How many emissions are supposed to be directly reduced as a re-
sult of this $700-million handout?

Chair, maybe you can stop the timer.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: There are a number of projects. Are you
asking for specific megatonnes? We do have the information, but
we just need a minute to get to it.

® (1645)
Mr. Dan Mazier: Can we pause the time?

The Chair: Yes, but then the question becomes this: Do we do
this every time somebody has to look up something?

Mr. Dan Mazier: How many emissions—

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I will answer. Obviously, this is a battery
deal, and if you look at the types of investments, you see that our
first pillar is about the large industrial emitters. They're intended to
get to emissions in the 2030 timeline.

Battery deals are part of our second and third pillars, which are
intended to build the technologies for the future and to build the
economy of the future.

Mr. Dan Mazier: | realize there are different pillars and all that,
but can you tell us how much emissions will be directly reduced by

a $700-million handout to this company?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The investments we are making are in-
tended to build technology—

Mr. Dan Mazier: It's just a yes-or-no question. Can you tell us
how many emissions have been reduced?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Our GHG emissions that we have calcu-
lated in a quantitative amount are those up to 2030. These are in-
tended to generate GHG emissions beyond that, and so [—

Mr. Dan Mazier: Does that mean you can't tell us? You can't tell
us.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: There is no quantitative —

Mr. Dan Mazier: You can't tell us how many emissions have
been reduced—

Mr. Adam van Koeverden (Milton, Lib.): I have a point of or-
der, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Dan Mazier: —for $700 million—

The Chair: Mr. van Koeverden, go ahead.

Mr. Dan Mazier: —to a multinational billion-dollar company.

The Chair: Excuse me, Mr. Mazier—

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: These are non-partisan witnesses
who are here to help inform our reports. They are not partisans and
they're not to be berated by my fellow MPs. I think that's inappro-

priate. They're not on trial for something, and that type of conduct
is inappropriate.
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The Chair: We'll continue, but I think Mr. Bilodeau's answer
was pretty clear. There are two phases, one of which includes GHG
reduction estimates, while the second phase is more geared towards
laying the groundwork for the future. It's not that he doesn't want to
say or that they've never thought about the issue; it's just that's the
way it's divided up.

Anyway, we'll continue.

Mr. Dan Mazier: I'll ask the question again.

How many emissions are supposed to be directly reduced as a re-
sult of the $700-million handout to PowerCo? How many emis-

sions? Can you tell me, yes or no? That's a pretty simple question.
Do you have any idea?

The Chair: That's contradictory, Mr. Mazier.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: [ will try to answer.

The Chair: Mr. Mazier, you're saying.... I stopped the clock, but
just so that we set the tone, there's a contradiction in your question-
ing there. You're asking how many, and then it becomes a yes-or-no
question.

I'll let Mr. Bilodeau take care of himself.

Mr. Dan Mazier: I'll move on. How about that?

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Bilodeau.

I'm sure we're going to hit our stride here. It's going to be
smooth.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: To be clear, our calculations are based on
emissions going up to 2030. Beyond that, calculating emissions is a
very unclear science. We've not done quantitative assessments, but
we expect that the investments in batteries and the electrification—

Mr. Dan Mazier: You can't tell us.
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Dan Mazier: I have a second question. This one's pretty
clear-cut.

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. van Koeverden.

Excuse me, Mr. Mazier. I've stopped the clock. We have a point
of order.

The plan is to finish at 6:30.

What's the point of order?

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Just as Mr. Bilodeau started answer-
ing the question, Mr. Mazier interjected again. I would like to hear
the answers.

Mr. Dan Mazier: That's not a point of order.

This is $8 billion, Adam. It's $8 billion, for heaven's sake.
The Chair: Let's just tone it down a bit.

Go ahead, Mr. Mazier.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Again, this is for ISED. The environment
committee ordered the government to release the contracts for
the $8-billion net zero accelerator fund. When we went to read the
contracts, over 360 pages had been completely ripped out.

Who ripped out these pages?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: To be clear, no pages were ripped out.
Pages were redacted.

We tried to ensure that the committee and Parliament would have
all the available information they need to properly hold the govern-
ment to account and do their work. At the same time, we have obli-
gations that are both legal and contractual, and so, working with the
committee, we built an approach that is intended to ensure that you
have information in camera.

We obviously have a legal obligation to consult with third parties
on the use of this information—

Mr. Dan Mazier: You did not answer my question, because
there were pages ripped out of the contracts. They were numbered
and there were pages ripped out of the contracts—a total of 360.

This is what 360 pages look like. There are 360 pages that were
ripped out of these contracts.

Who ripped them out? I saw them. I went and I read through the
contracts, and 360 pages had been ripped out. Who ripped them
out?

® (1650)

The Chair: Mr. Mazier, [ think this qualifies as a prop, especial-
ly since there's nothing written on those pages.

Mr. Dan Mazier: This is the point.

The Chair: I understand, but it is a prop. I would prefer that we
didn't use props.

Mr. Dan Mazier: This is what it looks like, though, Chair—

The Chair: You made your point about 360 pages, but let's not
use props—

Mr. Dan Mazier: I'll just leave them right here. There they are.

The Chair: —because it's going to go sideways if we start using
them.

An hon. member: [/naudible—Editor]

Mr. Dan Mazier: I don't have to remove them. I guess the truth
hurts.

Who ripped the pages out of the contracts?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The department removed information
that was deemed commercially confidential in the context of our
third party consultations with the recipients.

Mr. Dan Mazier: It was the department that ripped out the
pages.
Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The department removed information

that was deemed commercially confidential by third party recipi-
ents.

Mr. Dan Mazier: Did the minister know that these pages had
been ripped out?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The minister would have been made
aware of the information that is being provided to the committee.

Mr. Dan Mazier: The minister is purposely ripping pages out of
the contracts to hide information from this committee.
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Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The department is meeting its contractual
obligations to recipients and its legal obligations vis-a-vis existing
statutes to ensure that information that is commercially confidential
and could cause prejudice to companies is not released.

Mr. Dan Mazier: What is the government's emissions reduction
target for the $8-billion net zero accelerator fund?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Reports by both the Auditor General and
Environment Canada have articulated that the program is expected
to meet a reduction of between 19 and 20 megatonnes. It's our an-
ticipation that the program will meet approximately that amount.

The Chair: The time's up.

Madame Chatel is next.
[Translation]

Mrs. Sophie Chatel (Pontiac, Lib.): Thank you very much,
Mr. Chair.

I thank the witnesses for being with us, because it's important to
talk about how we're going to shape Canada's economy to be suc-
cessful on the international stage. We don't want to lag behind.

There is an enormous transformation of all the world's
economies. The strategic innovation fund and the net zero accelera-
tor are important funds to kick-start and turn the wheel or the tiller
to really steer Canada's industrial sector towards transition and suc-
cess in the economy of tomorrow.

Mr. Bilodeau, thank you for being with us, as well as all your
colleagues. I'd like to ask you a few questions about this global race
for clean technologies. Can you explain how the net zero accelera-
tor is helping to position Canada on the international stage?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: In my presentation, I talked about the
three pillars of the accelerator. The first pillar aims to reduce green-
house gas emissions in the shorter term, i.e., by 2030. To date, we
have invested in three major emitters. We expect there to be a more
direct and immediate impact on reducing greenhouse gas emissions
to meet our 2030 targets.

The second pillar, which focuses on industrial transformation,
aims to help industrial sectors make the transformation they need to
reduce the greenhouse gas curve.

Finally, the last pillar, which focuses on clean technologies, aims
to build the technologies that will enable not only Canada, but the
world to have the technologies needed to meet global greenhouse
gas reduction targets. In my opening remarks, I actually mentioned
the example of Svante, a company that captures greenhouse gases.

There has indeed been significant investment in the battery and
electric vehicle ecosystem. In Canada, around 20% of greenhouse
gas emissions come from transportation. Globally, transportation is
also a major source of emissions. The efforts that will be made to
have the technologies to reduce these emissions are crucial to
achieving global goals.

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: To date, the net zero accelerator has pro-
vided $4.5 billion in financing for 23 projects, including those of
three major issuers. Explain to us the importance of investing in
such projects to position Canada well in this economy and technol-
ogy and have a prosperous economy in the future.

® (1655)

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: So far, among the three projects that
have been funded under pillar 1 is Algoma Steel's project to replace
its blast furnace technology, which will enable the company to tran-
sition to a low-emissions economy, while continuing to run its op-
erations, create jobs and advance Canada's economy. The second
project is with ArcelorMittal. This project will help modernize
practices and reduce greenhouse gases in the steel sector. Finally,
the third project, from Heidelberg Materials, will capture green-
house gases at the cement plant.

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: If you hadn't removed the confidential in-
formation from this report and the Conservatives had made it pub-
lic, it could have jeopardized the competitiveness of Canadian com-
panies. Could Chinese or other companies have stolen technology
from Canadian companies?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: There are reasons why certain informa-
tion must remain confidential. Firstly, we have a legal obligation to
do so. Secondly, companies have considered that disclosing this in-
formation could jeopardize their competitiveness.

It's important for the government to be a trusted partner in at-
tracting and making investments. For example, the willingness of
large issuers to work with the government depends on how much
trust they have in it, and how well it will fulfil its obligations en-
shrined in agreements with them.

Making this information public could therefore jeopardize our
ability to act effectively in the future.

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: It is therefore very irresponsible of the
Conservatives to ask for this information to be made public. This
could not only harm current companies and their global competi-
tiveness, but also prevent others from participating in our programs.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: As [ said, first we have a legal obligation
to do so. Secondly, these companies expect the government to re-
spect the obligations set out in the contribution agreements, notably
the protection of the companies' commercial and confidential infor-
mation, so as not to harm their competitiveness. This will enable
the government to maintain companies' confidence in it, and to act
now and in the future.

The Chair: Thank you, Mrs. Chatel.

Ms. Michaud, welcome to the committee. It's your turn to speak.

Ms. Kristina Michaud (Avignon—La Mitis—Matane—Mat-
apédia, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Witnesses, thank you for being here. I appreciate it.
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I'm replacing Ms. Pauzé. I'm not very familiar with the net zero
accelerator. I understand that this program was set up to encourage
or incentivize Canadian companies to contribute to national efforts
to reduce greenhouse gases. The government has targeted a green-
house gas reduction range of 40% to 45% by 2030. As I understand
it, the program calls for investing $8 billion for a reduction of 19 to
20 megatonnes of greenhouse gases.

Mr. Commissioner of the Environment and Sustainable Develop-
ment, I'm particularly interested in your audit findings. You were
quite critical of the method of calculating emissions reductions, as
well as the follow-up that is done, or less done in this case, with the
various companies.

One of your findings is that the accelerator is not attracting
Canada's largest emitters, because the process is perhaps too long
and too complex to obtain financing. We're talking about an aver-
age process time of one year and eight months. Considering this, do
you think the accelerator is achieving its objective of going after
the biggest emitters, who could make a bigger effort to reduce
greenhouse gases? Can you tell us more?

® (1700)
Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: Thank you for the question.

As I said in my opening statement, we have found that the net
zero accelerator is failing to attract the largest emitters. It has steel
mills and a cement plant, but that's not a lot of companies when you
look at the 55 largest emitters in Canada. This is one of the con-
cerns we expressed in our audit.

The lack of a horizontal industrial policy for Canada and value
for money, from a value-for-money perspective, are also among our
concerns. The calculation of the value Canada's taxpayers are get-
ting for their money from this fund has not been made public.
These examples illustrate the biggest concerns we have about the
net zero accelerator.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you.

According to your observation, Mr. DeMarco, how does the gov-
ernment follow up with companies to ensure that the subsidies giv-
en actually lead to a reduction in greenhouse gases? I'm talking
about the follow-up done by the people who oversee the program,
through the Department of Innovation, Science and Economic De-
velopment, or the Department of Environment and Climate Change.

How can we be sure that there will, in fact, be a reduction in
greenhouse gases emitted by the company, once the subsidy has
been awarded? Is close monitoring carried out? If so, how is this
monitoring or calculation carried out? The fact that the calculation
or tracking method used at the moment does not correspond to in-
ternational standards is also, I believe, one of your findings.

Do you have any concerns in this regard? I'll leave it to you to
explain.

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: We are concerned about the lack of
compliance with assessment standards.

Mr. Blouin, can you add some clarification on this subject?

Mr. Nicolas Blouin (Director, Office of the Auditor General):
Thank you, Commissioner.

With regard to the monitoring of projects as such, the department
could tell you more about the details. However, there are indeed
provisions in the agreements that provide for follow-up and ac-
countability of the companies, which ensures in a way that the com-
panies that commit to reducing their greenhouse gas emissions will
honour these commitments within the framework of the project.

The second part of your question concerns calculation methods.
As part of the program, we detail a number of shortcomings in in-
ternationally recognized standards for certain calculations used to
estimate the greenhouse gas reduction impact of particular projects.

Ms. Kristina Michaud: If I'm not mistaken, the program was in-
troduced in 2020, or perhaps it was announced that year. I imagine
that the greenhouse gas reduction target was set at 2030 because
that's the government's target.

Mr. DeMarco, do you think we're on track to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions by 19 or 20 megatonnes? Will the $8 billion make it
possible to achieve this reduction, as the government has estimat-
ed?

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: I'm not sure the department is on the
right track.

We looked at the agreements, and only five of them had a reduc-
tion of a certain number of megatonnes. When we looked at those
five agreements, we calculated that they represented only six or
seven megatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. It's possible that
there will be further emissions reductions, but the agreements only
guarantee a reduction of six megatonnes. We don't know if we'll be
able to reach 19 megatonnes.

® (1705)

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Collins, you now have the floor.
[English]

Ms. Laurel Collins: Thank you to all of our witnesses for being
here today, especially Commissioner DeMarco. Thank you so much
to your whole team.

One thing that was shocking to me when I sat down to look at the
documents was the number of pages that were redacted.

Mr. DeMarco, when you looked at those, it was completely
unredacted. Is that correct?

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: The audit team goes through the piles of
documents in a digital format. Mr. Blouin can explain to you the
nature of the free access provision that we have in the Auditor Gen-
eral Act and what he obtained.

Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a very short amount of time. Were
they unredacted documents?

Mr. Nicolas Blouin: They were unredacted.

Ms. Laurel Collins: Thank you.
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When it comes to sending parliamentarians unredacted docu-
ments, I'm curious. When I looked at the information, it said “mini-
mal redactions”. Despite the theatrics of some of my colleagues, I
do agree that 360 pages...and those were just the ones that were re-
moved. When I looked at other pages, huge sections of them were
redacted.

It does leave me with this question: Why aren't parliamentarians
being given more information? Were all of those redactions abso-
lutely necessary?

A connected question to that is this: If we hadn't had our staff in
with us, would there have been fewer redactions?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I appreciate the question. There are two
elements to the answer.

Number one is with regard to the statutory standing of the OAG
in its own act.

Number two is the parameters under which they're provided. It's
under an NDA, which the committee, in the second session, will
not be under. In the context of our obligation vis-a-vis the propo-
nents, our requirement is that we consult with them and seek their
permission. That's what we did.

With regard to the nature of it, 300 pages may seem a lot, but
these are 300 in the context of multiple thousands of pages. The
type of information is almost identical across the sections that have
been redacted, and they're primarily around the statements of work.

Ms. Laurel Collins: I did notice that there were a few contracts
that weren't redacted as heavily. I was curious about the difference.
Was it just the permission given by those third parties or...?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The items that were redacted are of two
natures.

Number one is private, personal information and number two is
primarily commercial information. The commercial information for
almost all of them is around the statement of work and how they
anticipate doing their work, which could be prejudicial, or they feel
is prejudicial, to their capacities to remain competitive. That is
based on requests of the recipients.

Ms. Laurel Collins: As my final question, if it had just been
members of Parliament who were accessing the documents, would
the redactions have been...?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I believe the legal.... I understand it is the
same.

Ms. Laurel Collins: It would have been the same, regardless.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Yes.

Ms. Laurel Collins: I have more questions about that, but I'll
leave that for the in camera session.

Turning back to you, Commissioner DeMarco, can you talk a lit-
tle bit about what you mentioned around the horizontal industrial
decarbonization policy?

My NDP colleagues and I have been calling for a comprehensive
industrial strategy. We see the impact the U.S.'s Inflation Reduction
Act has had and we have not stepped up to that same level here in

Canada. Can you highlight how a comprehensive industrial green
strategy would help us attract investment?

Also, what are your reflections on the Inflation Reduction Act?
Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: Yes. I'd be pleased to.

As you see from today, you have more than one department in-
volved in the whole-of-government endeavour to meet the 2030 tar-
get, but in some ways, each acts in a silo.

What a horizontal industrial decarbonization policy for the Gov-
ernment of Canada would do would be a big-picture plan to guide
all of the different departments, including the two that are here to-
day, as well as NRCan, for example, in guiding their efforts as to
where to best invest, from a value-for-money point of view, Cana-
dian taxpayers' money.

It's essentially the grand plan that would be weaving together all
of the different elements of Canada's various subsidy programs for
this sort of thing. In the absence of a grand plan, there is the fear
that each department will work too much in their own silo and
won't maximize the value for money and act in a way that is con-
sidered coherent among all of the programs.

® (1710)

Ms. Laurel Collins: You provided some recommendations and
mentioned the responses to those recommendations. Just for clarity,
was it just to ISED that those recommendations went? You men-
tioned that some of the responses were vague. Was the response
vague to this recommendation in particular? Can you speak a bit
more to that?

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: Yes. As we indicated in the report, our
audit uncovered the larger issue that the Government of Canada as
a whole needs to address.

Each department has its own mandate, but sometimes an audit—
even though this one has only one auditee, ISED—reveals a larger
problem that admittedly ISED itself can't resolve on its own, unilat-
erally. It would need assistance from central agencies and govern-
ment as a whole.

That's recommendation 4.20, where we recommended “a strate-
gic horizontal approach” to detail “the steps to reach Canada's cli-
mate goals”.

This is what we just spoke about, and indeed—

The Chair: I'm going to have to stop—

Mr. Jerry V. DeMarco: —their response is vague. That's their
response to that recommendation 4.20.

The Chair: I'm going to have to stop there. We're well over time.

We'll go to a second round of four-minute and two-minute
rounds.

Next is Mr. Deltell.
[Translation]

Mr. Deltell, you have the floor for four minutes.

Mr. Gérard Deltell (Louis-Saint-Laurent, CPC): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.
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Good afternoon, colleagues.

Ladies and gentlemen, witnesses, welcome to your Canadian
Parliament.

Remember that we're here to talk about $8 billion in taxpayers'
money. Let's also remember that the program we're analyzing today
is called the net zero accelerator, and that its objective is to reduce
targeted greenhouse gas emissions by 40% to 45% by 2030. The
public documents to which we currently have access directly target
a foreign company, namely Volkswagen, which received $700 mil-
lion from Canadian taxpayers.

Mr. Bilodeau, I don't want to know the Caramilk secret. I don't
want to know how they're going to make the batteries, where
they're going to make them, or what technology they're going to
use. Your goal is to reduce emissions. My question is clear: by what
percentage will greenhouse gas emissions be reduced using
the $700 million of taxpayers' money given to this foreign compa-
ny?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: My answer to your question is twofold.
First, the objective of the program is not just to reduce emissions in
the short term, but also to transform and develop technologies.
Therefore, when we consider the impact of the program, we must
also think about the jobs created and the economic spin-offs.

Next, as I said earlier, I still don't have a figure to give you. We
expect...

Mr. Gérard Deltell: That's the problem, Mr. Bilodeau. We're
talking about $700 million. I understand that your objective is long-
term and all that, except that your objective is also to reduce green-
house gas emissions by 40% to 45% by 2030. I'm not making this
up; it's in your mandate letter.

You've given $700 million of Canadian taxpayers' money to a
foreign company, and you can't tell taxpayers what percentage of
emissions will be reduced with that money. How do you expect
people to have confidence in you, your project and your initiative?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: More specifically, this project was fund-
ed under pillar 3, which aims to transform...

Mr. Gérard Deltell: Mr. Bilodeau, I'm not talking about pillars
here, but rather taxpayers' money. Canadians have just giv-
en $700 million to a company to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
By what percentage will greenhouse gas emissions be reduced with
this $700 million?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I don't have any more information than I
did last time.

Mr. Gérard Deltell: Mr. Bilodeau, that's very unfortunate. You
understand that Canadians have a right to have accurate numbers
when their money is being spent.

I want to remind—
Mrs. Sophie Chatel: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Mrs. Chatel, you have the floor.

Mrs. Sophie Chatel: A question that can't be answered is being
repeated. When we talk about the transition to a green economy,
how can we know the exact figures in advance? It's repetition, it's
not—

[English]
Ms. Laurel Collins: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Go ahead, Ms. Collins.
Ms. Laurel Collins: This just seems like it's going into debate.

The Chair: I'll make that determination.

What I would say is that, yes, there's repetition, but that's the pre-
rogative of the questioner. If the questioner feels that repetition
will, over time, bring out new aspects of the question, then that can
be their questioning strategy. I understand what the tactic is—

Mr. Gérard Deltell: That's not a tactic. That's a fact.

The Chair: No, no; what I'm saying is that in terms of question-
ing, it's okay. You can do that.

Mr. Gérard Deltell: I will. For sure.

The Chair: What I'm saying is that I don't agree with Madame
Chatel's point of order. You can ask the question as many times as
you want, because it may be a way to shake the tree loose a bit.

Go ahead.
® (1715)
[Translation]

Mr. Gérard Deltell: Let's be very clear, and I'm saying this to
everyone.

Mr. Bilodeau, I'm not attacking you, I'm attacking the whole ini-
tiative. In the mandate letter for the net zero accelerator initiative, it
says that it's aiming to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 40% to
45%. I'm not making up a number. My question is not based on an
answer that's not available, but rather on a letter of intent, a man-
date letter, which states that your objective is to reduce emissions
by 40% to 45%. However, you're unable to specify the reduction
you will achieve through a company to which you have award-
ed $700 million.

Canadians recently learned that a green energy investment fund,
a sustainable technology development fund, contained $500 mil-
lion. Of that, $390 million—almost four out of five dollars—was
not managed ethically or according to the rules. Canadians have a
right to wonder why the figures aren't available.
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I'd like to talk about something else, and that's Lion Electric.
We're talking about $50 million here. As you know, unfortunately,
Lion Electric is experiencing considerable difficulties, which no
one is happy about. Earlier this week, the mayor of Saint-Jérome
gave his opinion on the matter. He reminded us that Justin Trudeau
visited the Lion plant itself three years ago to announce a program
to support the purchase of buses by school transportation in
Canada, but that the program never really materialized.
That's $50 million, and I'm not the one saying that the program nev-
er came to be. It was the mayor of Saint-Jéréme.

The Chair: Your time is up, Mr. Deltell.

Mr. van Koeverden, you have the floor for four minutes.
[English]
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses for coming today.

For my part, thank you for protecting the integrity of these con-
tracts from partisan games. I've never run a multi-billion-dollar
company before, but I think I'd be rather reticent to provide every
single detail of these contracts, given how toxic various Parliaments
have become over the last couple of years.

I think it's important that they have funding agreements. I also
think it's important that we get reports and timely information and
that they be scrutinized. I think that's been done very, very well. I'm
also glad that the integrity of that confidential information between
a multi-billion-dollar organization and a nation is important to pro-
tect. It's also important for our competitiveness. We don't want
companies to say in the future, “I don't want to be used for partisan
reasons. I just want to do business.”

In the case of the decarbonization of the steel industry in my re-
gion, in Hamilton, we're very grateful for the improvements that
this will make to our atmospheric pollution. I also know that just
down the road from Milton, in St. Thomas, we're going to see huge
growth in jobs thanks to the Volkswagen factory and others down
in that region.

I'll say that over the last couple of weeks in particular, the leader
of the Conservative Party, Pierre Poilievre, has been talking about
jobs. When asked about their plans to lower emissions and fight cli-
mate change, they really only respond with one answer, and that's
technology. I think immediately of technologies like decarbonizing
our steel industry, improving electrification and working towards
cleaner large industrial manufacturing techniques.

Could you point to job creation? I know that's not necessarily di-
rectly in your mandate, but the rust belt in Ontario has—

Mr. Dan Mazier: I have a point of order.

The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Mazier.

Mr. Dan Mazier: This is on the net zero accelerator. This is to
reduce emissions. It has nothing to do with jobs. This study is all
about where the $8 billion went and how many emissions have
been reduced.

® (1720)

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: The member opposite, Dan Mazier,
might want to simplify this, make it about just one thing and sug-

gest that the net zero accelerator fund is just an emissions reduc-
tions plan, but that's not the case. It's not solely for emissions re-
ductions.

The Chair: Yes—
Mr. Adam van Koeverden: It does many other things.

The Chair: Okay, Mr. van Koeverden.
To be fair, Mr. Bilodeau, in some of his answers, referenced....

I'm going to have to pause the meeting. Any time I pause the
meeting, it eats into the time of the meeting.

Mr. Bilodeau did mention that one of the pillars of the program
was directly tied to to job creation. Of course, the green transition is
all part of the big ball of wax we call moving to a greener economy.
I wouldn't spend too much time on jobs, but it's not entirely out of
the frame.

Go ahead, Mr. van Koeverden.

Mr. Adam van Koeverden: 1 know that the Conservatives
would like everything to be very, very simple. I also know that they
brought 360 blank pages indicating that they have done a tremen-
dous amount of research on this.

It is about more than just lowering our emissions. It's about in-
vesting in the green economy. That's why we continually say that if
you don't have a plan for the environment, then you don't have a
plan for the economy.

In this context, this is absolutely true. Our manufacturing sector
in southwestern Ontario is a large-emitting sector. It always has
been, but as we know, we've lost a lot of jobs from the rust belt. It's
where I grew up and where I live. Now this government is invest-
ing in a very competitive environment, I'd say.

The competitiveness of the Inflation Reduction Act down in the
United States basically informed us that we needed to invest in or-
der to attract these jobs and this investment in these technological
opportunities.

Could you speak specifically to jobs in St. Thomas with respect
to how important these investments are for the steel industry, par-
ticularly in Hamilton and Algoma?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I will ask Stephanie in a moment to talk
specifically about St. Thomas.

On the broader picture, our estimate is on the basis of agreements
to date. We estimate that about 36,000 jobs will be created and that
R and D commitments exceeding $4.5 billion will be made.

It's important to recognize that we're seeing a major shift in the
industrial landscape, and part of the objective is to support Canada
as we shift and the economy changes. Investments like Volkswa-
gen, though $700 million is a large investment, represent only 10%
of the total investment that is being made in Canada.
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While there is certainly an objective in the short term, particular-
ly around pillar one and achieving short-term megatonne reduc-
tions, there's certainly a broader objective to the program around
the restructuring of the economy and the development of the tech-
nology that will help both Canada and the world reduce GHG emis-
sions.

[Translation]
The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Michaud, you have the floor for two minutes.
Ms. Kristina Michaud: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Bilodeau, when I was asking Mr. DeMarco my questions,
you didn't seem to fully agree with what he was saying. So I'm go-
ing to give you the opportunity to answer those questions yourself:
I'm going to ask them all at once and give you the rest of my time
to respond.

We have about five years left to meet the 2030 target. Do you
think we're on track to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 19 to
20 megatonnes with this $8-billion investment?

Do you agree that the process is too long and complex for some
businesses wishing to benefit from this program? If so, why do you
think that is?

Why is it not attracting the large emitters, the ones that I, for one,
think should be reducing their greenhouse gas emissions the most?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: With respect to your first question, the
department's estimates indicate that current investments are expect-
ed to result in a reduction of about 11.2 megatonnes in greenhouse
gases. The target of 6 to 7 megatonnes is what's specifically men-
tioned in the contractual agreements. You have to understand that
companies would be subject to penalties if they didn't meet the tar-
gets in their contract. In our conservative estimate, these contracts
will have a greater impact on emissions than the 6 to 7 megatonne
target specified in them. We estimate that the projects being studied
will help achieve a reduction of about 20 megatonnes of green-
house gases. There is certainly some uncertainty around these fig-
ures, because there is always uncertainty around the projects in
which we invest.

As for the fact that the projects would be long and complex, you
have to understand that the average investment is $200 million. The
department believes that an investment like that requires due dili-
gence and time. In addition, the Government of Canada is usually
the first to invest in these projects. That means that our investments
generate activity and interest in them and that there is still a lot of
time left to participate.

® (1725)
The Chair: Thank you very much.

Ms. Collins, you have the floor.
[English]

Ms. Laurel Collins: The environment commissioner laid out in
his report that there was “incomplete due diligence on greenhouse
gas emission reduction commitments”. He has noted his concerns
here here and also in the report about value for money, given that

the reduction commitments weren't strict enough and also that stan-
dard practices weren't followed.

Were there any concerns raised in the drafting of this audit or
when the minister was approving projects? At any point, did people
raise these concerns before the audit happened?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: There are maybe two elements to my an-
swer. In terms of value for money—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I'm sorry. Could you start with a yes or no,
in terms of whether anyone raised these concerns before the audit
occurred?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Do you mean in terms of incomplete due
diligence?

Ms. Laurel Collins: Were there any concerns raised about in-
complete due diligence on greenhouse gas emissions reductions,
about value for money—given that the emission reductions were
not strict enough—or double-counting or not following standard
practices?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Value for money would not have been
our own assessment in terms of—

Ms. Laurel Collins: I'm sorry; do you mind starting with the
question? Did anyone—

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: The minister was fully informed of due
diligence—

Ms. Laurel Collins: And no concerns were raised?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: —and in all instances, it was the recom-
mendation of the department that the projects—

Ms. Laurel Collins: But were any concerns raised at any point
by the minister or anyone in your department before this audit took
place?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: Not to my knowledge.
Ms. Laurel Collins: Thank you.

The commissioner noted that projects could be fast-tracked with
a letter from the Prime Minister. Is that standard practice in other
departments?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I should clarify. In all instances, projects
went through full due diligence of the department. That includes a
review by the GHG committee and the investment review commit-
tee.

In some instances, where time was of the essence, the program
provided for—

Ms. Laurel Collins: Is that a normal process in other depart-
ments?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: In all instances, projects were approved
by one cabinet committee or the other, either by full cabinet or
Treasury Board—in all instances by Treasury Board—and it is not
in deviation with what we might see in programs.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Leslie is next.
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Mr. Branden Leslie (Portage—Lisgar, CPC): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

I'd like to start with a fairly straightforward question.

What is the government's emissions reduction target? I'm using
the word “target” specifically. What is the emissions reduction tar-
get of the $8-billion net zero accelerator fund?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: As per what was reported in the OAG re-
port and by Environment Canada, we expect 19 to 20 megatonnes.

Mr. Branden Leslie: My question refers to the target of the pro-
gram's $8 billion in spending. What is the target of emissions re-
ductions?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: At this point, any specific targets that
would have been included in the policy approval are cabinet confi-
dence.

Mr. Branden Leslie: To clarify, “cabinet confidence” means that
it must be kept secret.

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: That's correct.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Why would the target number of emissions
for $8 billion need to be kept secret?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: As I said, I am bound by cabinet confi-
dence, so at this point I do not have....

Mr. Branden Leslie: Could you guess why a number would
need to be kept secret?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I wouldn't provide conjecture in that
space.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay.

The Liberals gave $61 million to Pratt & Whitney, which is a
subsidiary of Raytheon Technologies, a multi-billion-dollar
aerospace and defence company, to develop a new type of engine.

Do you think that this company could develop a new engine
without $61 million of taxpayers' money?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I believe that the investments provided
help secure Canadian mandates, the development of technology in
Canada and work in Canada. Hopefully, this will lead to technology
that will lead to the decarbonization of a fairly emissions-intensive
sector.

® (1730)

Mr. Branden Leslie: In the case of that contract, how much
could be non-repayable? How much may not be paid back to the
government?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I think that's information that is within
the realm of the contribution agreement, which I would propose is
appropriate for the second part of the discussion.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay.

Do you see why it's frustrating for the folks I represent—folks all
of us represent—when we're seeing taxes increase on seniors, on
home heating and on life in general, and we're seeing billions of
dollars handed out to big companies with parent companies based
sometimes in Canada and sometimes in Europe or in other nations
around the world, without an actual commitment of any type to re-
duce emissions? Do you see why that's frustrating for folks?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I have no comment on that.

Mr. Branden Leslie: Okay. Well, I view it in many ways as a
blank cheque for big companies, and I think many taxpayers do too.

As discussed earlier, the environment commissioner discovered
that you did not conduct value-for-money audits. I'll continue in
that space. Since you won't tell us what the target of the entirety of
the program is and we have no credible data to ensure that emis-
sions reductions actually take place and therefore can't measure the
cost-effectiveness, how can you guarantee to the folks whom I rep-
resent that there has not been wasted money?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I could say that the projects were all in-
dividually reviewed in quite thorough ways for a number of factors,
including job creation, technology development and, particularly
for the ones that are in pillar 1, their megatonne reductions until
2030.

The due diligence process is actually fairly rigorous; hence, we
were discussing the length of time it makes in the help to support
the development of Canadian industry.

Mr. Branden Leslie: I would hope that it's rigorous. I think ex-
pecting anything less is simply insane.

However, there has also been a double-counting of emissions
across various other programs, as reported by the commissioner,
and a clear lack of focus, I think.

Going forward, will the department be doing value-for-money
audits on future programs of this nature? Has the lesson been
learned, or are we going to continue to provide vague responses
back to the environment commissioner?

The Chair: The time is up. We'll go now to Mr. Longfield.

Mr. Lloyd Longfield (Guelph, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses.

I'm going to focus my questions with Mr. Bilodeau.

Thank you, Mr. DeMarco, for being here again at the committee.

When Mr. DeMarco was last at our committee, we talked about
the gap between policies being launched and then getting results on
the greenhouse gas reductions. I'm looking at this from two differ-
ent angles.
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First, I've worked on electric arc furnaces in steel mills. They're
massive. When you shut down an electric arc furnace, you shut
down the steel mill, so with regard to the timing to work on those
furnaces, sometimes you have to wait years to get into the produc-
tion schedule to work on a furnace. I've also worked on the dryer
kilns in concrete plants, and it's very much the same: When the kiln
goes down, the plant goes down, so when we're looking at the large
emitters in pillar 1, we're actually talking about getting right to the
heart of their operations, and that's not an easy thing to do.

The second part of my comments would be with regard to work-
ing with the board of directors. I've sat on the boards of internation-
al companies. The Canadian division has a Canadian managing di-
rector. It's a separate balance sheet within a larger organization. You
have to ask for capital for your region. You have to get board ap-
proval for capital for your region, and then you have to expend the
capital and implement the improvements that you've pitched to the
board in order to get approvals.

Between getting things through boards of directors and through
production, could you talk about the real-life challenge of business-
es trying to implement net-zero programs that we've put forward?

Mr. Francis Bilodeau: I appreciate the question.

I think the decisions that face companies that are making very
large investments with a view to decarbonizing are multiple. Obvi-
ously, they have shareholders and they have business imperatives.

I will actually ask Stephanie, who is more directly involved in
the negotiation and the collaboration with the companies, to maybe
provide a bit more—

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: Thank you.

I am not looking for excuses for the businesses; I'm looking at
the real-life consequences of trying to get a program implemented.

® (1735)

Ms. Stephanie Tanton (Assistant Deputy Minister, Strategic
Innovation Fund, Department of Industry): Mr. Chair, I would
say that the member is correct. These are incredibly complex, large,
high-risk projects that often require significant inputs into decisions
for the companies to decide to make final investment decisions.

In the case of a lot of the projects under pillar 1, and as is the
case in a number of the projects that we continue to have in our
pipeline, we're often the first in with regard to providing a commit-
ment towards a project—not disbursing funding, not signing a con-
tribution agreement, but in sending a signal that this project is go-
ing to advance Canada's net-zero objectives—and we do that.

As the audit actually pointed out, I think six out of the 10 CTA
projects at the time of the audit were in their feasibility studies. The
companies need to take a look at a lot of things. They need to look
at making sure that they have the full financial stack. They need to
make sure that they're going to look at regulations. They're also go-
ing to look at risk—

Mr. Lloyd Longfield: Thank you. I'm on limited time.
At the same time, we're competing against other organizations in
other countries that may also be seeking federal compensation for

some of their large capital projects, so it is a global market we're
competing against. Is that fair to say?

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much.
That concludes the first hour of our meeting.

Before we take a short break and begin the in camera portion of
the meeting, I'd like to ask the committee a question. As we know,
during the in camera portion, each member has the right to be ac-
companied by an assistant, as do the whips and House leaders. It's a
well-established right.

Do I have the permission of the committee to invite the support
staff who support the witnesses to stay in the room? Most of them
are sitting in the front row behind the witnesses.

Voices: Agreed.
The Chair: Perfect.

We will now take a break before we go in camera. The meeting
is suspended.

[Proceedings continue in camera)













Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION

Publié en conformité de I’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

PERMISSION DU PRESIDENT

The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit-
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac-
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re-
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu-
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy-
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au-
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of-
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed-
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per-
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor-
dance with the Copyright Act.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per-
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re-
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises a la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilége
parlementaire de contréler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle posséde tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup-
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. I1 n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra-
tions a des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut étre considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut étre obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

La reproduction conforme a la présente permission ne con-
stitue pas une publication sous I’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilége absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham-
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés a2 un comité
de la Chambre, il peut étre nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au-
teurs autorisation de les reproduire, conformément a la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux priviléges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
Pinterdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra-
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilége de déclarer I’utilisa-
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc-
tion ou I’utilisation n’est pas conforme a la présente permis-
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes a I’adresse suivante :
https://www.noscommunes.ca



